
 

 
 

 

 

Standards Committee 
 

Tuesday 9 December 2014 at 7.00 pm 
Board Room 5 -Brent Civic Centre, Engineers Way, 
Wembley HA9 0FJ 
 
 
Membership: 
 
Members Substitute Members 
Councillors: Councillors: 

  

Dixon (Chair) 
Kabir (Vice-Chair) 
Krupa Sheth 
Thomas 
Warren 
 

Khan, Mahmood, McLeish and Tatler 
 
Councillors: 
 

Davidson and Ms Shaw    

Co-opted Member: 
 

Sheila Darr 
 
Independents: 
 

Vacancy  
  
 
 
 
For further information contact: Toby Howes, Senior Democratic Services Officer 
020 8937 1307, toby.howes@brent.gov.uk 
 
For electronic copies of minutes, reports and agendas, and to be alerted when the 
minutes of this meeting have been published visit: 

democracy.brent.gov.uk  
 
 
The press and public are welcome to attend this meeting 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

Agenda 
 
Introductions, if appropriate. 
 
Apologies for absence and clarification of alternate members 
 

Item Page 
 

1 Declarations of personal and prejudicial interests  
 

 

 Members are invited to declare at this stage of the meeting, any relevant 
financial or other interest in the items on this agenda. 
 

 

2 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 27 March 2014  
 

1 - 4 

 The minutes are attached. 
 

 

3 Matters arising  
 

 

4 Review of the Member Development Programme and members' 
expenses  

 

5 - 44 

 The purpose of this report is to provide members of the Standards 
Committee with a review of the rolling Member Development Programme 
and provides information regarding the updated Members’ Expenses 
Scheme.  This report outlines the member learning and development 
sessions delivered for members since May 2014, and also the upcoming 
winter quarter of the member learning and development programme 
(January-April 2014). 
 

 

5 Review of the Protocol for Member/Office Relations and the Local 
Code of Corporate Governance  

 

45 - 62 

 Members periodically review the codes and protocols which form part of 
the Constitution and which set out standards of conduct for members and 
for the council generally. The Protocol for Member/Office Relations and 
the Local Code of Corporate Governance have been reviewed and some 
amendments are proposed to those documents. 
 

 

6 Annual report of the Monitoring Officer  
 

63 - 66 

 This is the Monitoring Officer’s annual report to the Standards Committee 
for the period December 2013 to December 2014 and provides an update 
on member conduct issues, and the work of the Standards Committee 
and the Monitoring Officer during that period. This report also reviews the 
introduction of the new Code of Conduct and related codes in June 2014 
following the local elections in May 2014. 

 



 

 

 

7 Date of next meeting  
 

 

 The next meeting of the Standards Committee is scheduled to take place 
on Wednesday, 25 March 2015 at 7.00 pm. 
 

 

8 Any other urgent business  
 

 

 Notice of items to be raised under this heading must be given in writing to 
the Democratic Services Manager or his representative before the 
meeting in accordance with Standing Order 64. 
 

 

 
 

� Please remember to switch your mobile phone to silent during the 
meeting. 

• The meeting room is accessible by lift and seats will be provided for 
members of the public. 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
LONDON BOROUGH OF BRENT 

 
MINUTES OF THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

Thursday 27 March 2014 at 7.00 pm 
 
 

PRESENT: Councillors Ketan Sheth (Chair), Cummins, Gladbaum, Harrison and 
HB Patel and Mrs Sheila Darr (Co-opted Member) 

 
 

1. Declarations of personal and prejudicial interests  
 
There were no declarations of personal or prejudicial interests. For purposes of 
transparency, Councillor Sheth advised that he was Chair of the Planning 
Committee. Similarly, Councillor Cummins advised that he was a member of the 
Planning Committee and Councillor Harrison informed the meeting that she was a 
member of the Alcohol and Entertainment Licensing Committee. 
 

2. Minutes of the previous meeting  
 
RESOLVED:- 
 
that the minutes of the previous meeting held on 9 January 2014 be approved as 
an accurate record of the meeting. 
 

3. Matters arising  
 
None.   
 

4. Report on the Reviews of the Licensing and Planning Codes of Practice and 
on the Members' Code of Conduct  
 
Kathy Robinson (Senior Lawyer) introduced the report setting out the findings of the 
recent independent reviews of the Licensing and Planning Codes of  Practice and 
their subsequent implications for the Members’ Code of Conduct. Periodic review of 
the Licensing and Planning Codes was required to ensure that they remained fit for 
purpose and were being correctly applied by members and officers.  The 
independent reviews had been conducted by Belinda Shaw of Ch&i Associates and 
her reports were attached as appendices to the main report before the committee.  
 
Drawing members’ attention to the proposed changes set out within Ms Shaw’s 
reports, Kathy Robinson, advised that overall the findings of the reviews had been 
very positive and that most of the recommendations related to the need to update 
the Codes to reflect changes to the legislative framework, guidance on best practice 
or current council practice. It was highlighted that there were a number of 
recommendations and themes common to both Codes. In particular, it was 
recommended that the requirement to declare personal and prejudicial interests be 
retained in the Planning and Licensing Codes and that the Members Code of 

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



2 
Standards Committee - 27 March 2014 

Conduct be amended to include this, in addition to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests. 
Other common themes related to the importance of member training, conduct of 
site visits and the recording of approaches to Committee members by interested 
parties.  
 
In response to queries raised by the committee, Kathy Robinson explained that 
though both were quasi-judicial functions, Planning and Licensing had very different 
arrangements, with the conduct of the Licensing committee carefully specified and 
taking the form of a hearing.  Planning also allowed for there being local Planning 
interests. However, in each case the Codes of Practice aimed to ensure the 
decision making processes were robust, remained transparent and were not 
vulnerable to being tainted. In view of the positive feedback received via the current 
reviews, it was proposed that both Codes be reviewed every three years.  
 
During its discussion, the committee acknowledged the importance of member 
training and agreed that the Party Whips should be utilised where members did not 
attend the required training. The committee also considered issues relating to the 
non-attendance of members at the Planning Committee who had ‘called in’ a 
planning application. It was agreed that it was important for those members to 
contribute to the subsequent process, including attending the site-visit and 
committee meeting. It was noted that an addition to the Planning Code of Practice  
was proposed  which would remind Members to consider alternative means to 
calling in an application, in order to achieve their objective.  A member questioned 
the practicality of these alternative options which included meeting with the relevant 
Planning Officer and was advised that these had been successfully employed in the 
past. The committee also discussed the number of members required to call in a 
planning application and agreed that three was an appropriate number.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

(i) that the report regarding the independent review of the Licensing Code of 
Practice attached at Appendix 1 to the report be noted; 
 

(ii) that the recommended changes to the Licensing Code of Practice  set out as 
tracked changes in Appendix 2 to the report be agreed 

 
(iii) that the report regarding the independent review of the Planning Code of 

Practice attached at Appendix 3 to the report be noted; 
 

(iv) that the recommended changes to the Planning Code of Practice  set out as 
tracked changes in Appendix 4 to the report be agreed, subject to the 
following additional amendments: 
 

a) that it be clarified that members who sponsored the calling-in of a 
planning application aught to attend the associated site visit and 
committee meeting, with the wording of the amendment to the Code 
to be agreed between the Chair of the committee and the Director of 
Legal and Procurement;  
 

b) Paragraph 1, 10th line, the following sentence to be amended as 
shown: ‘They should not allow themselves to be influenced by 

Page 2



3 
Standards Committee - 27 March 2014 

members of the public and developers applicants, agents or third 
parties A’; 
 

c) Paragraph 37, 5th line, the following sentence to be amended as 
shown ‘Members of the Planning Committee should not make up their 
mind before hearing and considering all relevant information at the 
meeting and should not declare in advance of the meeting vote, how 
they intent to vote on a particular application or other matter’;  

 
d) Paragraph 38, 2nd line, the word ‘journalists’ to be inserted so that the 

section reads ‘(including applicants, agents and journalists)’; 
 

e) Paragraph 39, 3rd line, the following to be inserted at the end of the 
sentence ‘and the question should not be party political.’. 
 

(v) That the Licensing Code of Practice and the Planning Code of Practice be 
independently reviewed every three years; 
 

(vi) that the observations made in relation to the Members’ Code of Conduct 
arsing from the review of the Licensing and Planning Codes of Practice be 
noted; 
 

(vii) that the recommended changes to the Members’ Code of Conduct attached 
as Appendix 5 to the report be agreed.  

 
 

5. Date of Next Meeting  
 
The committee noted that the date of the next meeting was subject to confirmation 
at the Annual Meeting scheduled for 4 June 2014.  
 

6. Any other urgent business  
 
None. 
 

 
 
The meeting closed at 8:32 
 
 
 
KETAN SHETH 
Chair 
 

Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

                                                                                                                             

 

 
Standards Committee 
9 December 2014 

Report from the Director of  
Legal and Procurement 

For Information 
  

Wards Affected: 
ALL 

Review of the Member Development Programme and 
Members’ Expenses  
 

 
1.0  Summary 
 
1.1  The purpose of this report is to provide members of the Standards 

Committee with a review of the rolling Member Development 
Programme and provides information regarding the updated Members’ 
Expenses Scheme. 

 
1.2 This report outlines the member learning and development sessions 

delivered for members since May 2014, and also the upcoming winter 
quarter of the member learning and development programme (January-
April 2014). 

 
2.0  Recommendations 
 

Members are asked to note the content of this report. 
 
3.0  Detail – Member Development 
 
3.1The Member Development Programme was last reviewed by this 

Committee on 9 January 2014; that review covered the period May 
2012 to January 2014. In addition to review by members of the 
Standards Committee, the member learning and development 
programme is regularly monitored by the Member Development 
Steering Group on a quarterly basis.  

 
3.2  The steering group provides invaluable member input into the future 

programme. The scope of that Committee is to consider the type of 
training provided and attendance at the training, and consider and 
discuss any implications with regards maintaining high standards of 
conduct and good practice.  

Agenda Item 4

Page 5



2 
 

 
 

Development events May 2014 – November 2014: 
 
3.3 During the quarter immediately prior to the local elections in May 2014 

(January-April), the programme was temporarily suspended, in 
recognition that the demands on members’ time during this period did 
not reasonably allow for attendance at training sessions.  
This practice was also followed in 2010.  
 

3.4 Following the local elections, a significant number of member 
development events were held between May 2014 and November 
2014.  These have been delivered mostly by internal officersd partners, 
with some external facilitators : 
 
• Member Induction evening – 27 May 2014 
• I.T. training sessions – 3 and 26 June 2014 
• Alcohol and Entertainment Licensing training– 9 June 2014 
• Planning Committee training– 12 June 2014 
• Local Government Finance – 25 June 2014 
• Regeneration and Housing ‘issues seminar’ – 30 June 2014 
• Casework and Member Enquiries session: ‘If I’d Known Then What 

I Know Now’ – 3 July 2014 
• Regeneration tour of the borough – 7 July 2014 (daytime) 
• Scrutiny Committee member training – 7 July 2014 (evening) 
• Conduct in Public Office – 9 July 2014 
• Veolia and the Public Realm Contract – 15 July 2014 
• Safeguarding Vulnerable Children – 22 July 2014 
• Adults, Health and Well-Being – 30 July 2014 
• Scrutiny Committee member training – 31 July 2014 
• Employment and Skills ‘issues seminar’ – 3 September 2014 
• Stronger Communities ‘issues seminar’ – 10 September 2014 
• Licensing Policy review – 16 September 2014 
• Casework and Member Enquiries session: ‘If I’d Known Then What 

I Know Now’ (repeat) – 23 September 2014 
• Safeguarding Vulnerable Children (repeat) and Tackling Child 

Sexual Exploitation – 30 September 2014 
• Equalities Strategy – 8 October 2014 
• The Borough Plan– 13 October 2014 (daytime) 
• The Borough Plan– 22 October 2014 (evening) 
• Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults – 29 October 2014  
• Mentor/mentee facilitation session for Majority group members – 30 

October 2014 
• Questioning Skills – 11 November 2014 
• Revenues and Benefits – 13 November 2014 
• Alcohol and Entertainment Licensing training (repeat) – 18 

November 2014 
• Housing Needs briefing – 20 November 2014 

Page 6



3 
 

• Chairing Skills – 25 November 2014 
 
Further scheduled sessions: 

 
• School Place Planning – 3 December 2014 
• Clinical Commissioning Group briefing – 15 January 2015 
• Individual Electoral Registration – 4  February 2015 
• Social Media protocol – 17 February 2015 
• Immigration briefing – 25 February 2015 
• Brent Housing Partnership briefing – 3 March 2015 
• Intermediate level I.T. training – 10 March 2015 
• Regeneration tour of the borough – 14 March 2015 (daytime) 
• Special Education Needs provision – 19 March 2015 
• Challenging Prejudice – 30 March 2015 
• Employment Skills and Enterprise Strategy – 9 April 2015. 

 
 Attendance at internal training events 
 
3.5 Member attendance at internal learning and development sessions has 

varied for each session during the May – October period (see attached 
as Appendix One). Overall Member attendance, has been 
encouraging. Of the 24 sessions delivered during the May-October 
period, 19 sessions were attended by 10 members or more. 30 
members have attended 6 or more sessions; however, 3 members yet 
to attend a sessions. 
 

3.6 Other than the initial induction evening following the local elections in 
May which was attended by 59 members, the best attended sessions 
were the ‘Safeguarding Vulnerable Children’ sessions, which were 
mandatory for members newly elected in May 2014. Additionally, 
training for licensing and planning committee members is now 
compulsory having regard to the regulatory nature of those 
committees; for planning, the requirement is set out in the revised 
planning codes approved by this committee in March 2014.  
 

3.7 Sessions with the lowest attendance tended to be those aimed at 
specific committees, possibly because councillors who are not 
members of that committee do not consider it is aimed at them.  
 
Alternatively, the low attendance at the Licensing Policy Review 
session may have been due to the training already delivered to the 
members of the Alcohol and Entertainment Licensing Committee, who 
may have felt that their training needs in that area had already been 
met.  
 

3.8 There do not appear to be any other particular trends relating to subject 
matter or the timing of the courses which would assist in identifying 
further why some members choose not to attend training sessions.  
 

Page 7



4 
 

3.9 Currently the Member Development Programme is advertised quarterly 
to all members via the weekly Members’ Information Bulletin. 
Reminders are issued on a weekly basis, also via the Members’ 
Information Bulletin. Despite this, some members have voiced 
concerns that they have been unaware of the dates in advance. I.T. 
have been asked to assist with a programme of electronic invites which 
would automatically enter members’ diaries once accepted, and an 
outcome on this is anticipated in the near future, in time to go live when 
booking attendance for the winter quarter of the programme January - 
April.  
 

3.10 It should be noted as that, in addition to the system of electronic 
invites, members will still have the opportunity to make bookings 
directly by emailing the Member Development Manager, the Head of 
Executive and Member Service or the political group offices. It is 
currently possible for members to attend the vast majority of sessions 
without booking in advance, and there is also no sanction for members 
who do not attend following confirmation being received. 

 
 Attendance at external events May 2014 – November 2014: 

 
3.11 A number of external events have been attended by members since 

May 2014. The organisers have included the Greater London Authority 
(GLA), the Local Government Association (LGA), London Councils, the 
Local Government Information Unit (LGIU), the National Housing 
Federation and 4Children Ltd. Programme content has included the 
Early Years Pupil Premium, the London Development Conference 
examining housing provision in the capital, a Safeguarding London’s 
Children conference, the use of social media and the Local 
Government Summit. 
 

 Feedback from members regarding the member development 
programme: 

3.12 Feedback is sought from members following each training event 
attended, both internal and external.  The feedback received after 
attendance at internal events has been largely positive. 19 members 
completed online evaluation forms following sessions between 12 June 
2014 and 24 September 2014. Of those 19 responses, the results are 
as follows: 

 
• 95% found the event covered what they expected. 
• Of the question ‘how would you rate the trainers’ 95% of 

respondents rated them satisfactory, good or excellent. 
• Of the question ‘how much new information did you learn’ 95% 

of respondents felt they had learned a medium, significant or 
high level of new information. 

• Of the question ‘how relevant was the event for you’ 90% of 
respondents felt the event was relevant, quite relevant or very 
relevant. 

Page 8



5 
 

• Of the question ‘how would you rate the event overall’ 84% of 
respondents rated the event satisfactory, good or excellent. 

 
There was also constructive feedback, including: 

 
• ‘Some new information but not as useful as I had hoped’ 
• ‘Gave some interesting information but need more time’ 
• ‘Too broad an area for a single event – break it down into bite  

size pieces’ 
• I have a somewhat better understanding of Housing and 

RegenerationJ’ 
 

No feedback has been received following attendance at external 
events. 

 
 Organisational and political support: 
 
3.13 The Member Development Steering Group was reconstituted following  

the local elections in May 2014, and first met on 8 October 2014. 
Chaired by the Deputy Leader of the Council (Cabinet Member for 
Member Services), discussions focused on a review of the induction 
programme and subsequent attendance at all internal development 
events to date, an evaluation of member feedback and consideration of 
items for inclusion in future quarters of the programme. The Steering 
Group’s Terms of Reference are attached for information as Appendix 
Two. 
 

3.14 The Steering Group has consistently provided constructive input and 
evaluation during previous terms of office and it is anticipated this 
support will continue. A strong political lead on member development 
from all groups is essential to ensure member ownership of the 
programme. 
 

 Member Development Charter Award 
 
3.15 Re-accreditation for the Member Development Charter Award was 

successfully achieved in January 2014. The report from the assessors, 
South East Employers, is attached as Appendix Three. Only five 
London councils have been awarded the Charter – Barking and 
Dagenham, Brent, Islington, Richmond upon Thames and Southwark. 

 
3.16 Feedback from the Charter assessors indicated that Brent would have 

an excellent chance of achieving Charter Plus, regarded as the gold 
standard for good practice in the field of member development. The 
requirements for achieving Charter Plus are detailed in Appendix 
Three. 
 

3.17 No other London authority has yet achieved Charter Plus status. 
Consideration should be given to submitting an application for an 

Page 9



6 
 

assessment for Charter Plus in order to build on Brent’s good 
standards in the area of member development. 
 

4.0 Detail – Members’ Expenses 
 
4.1 The 2014 review of allowances was the first significant consideration of 

the Members’ Allowances Scheme in Brent for over 4 years and, 
following the local elections in May 2014, a number of changes to 
update the scheme were needed to make the scheme fit for purpose. 
Until recently, the London Borough of Brent Members’ Allowances 
Scheme made provision for the payment of travel expenses to 
members. At its meeting on 8 September 2014, the full Council decided 
to delete this provision. At the same meeting, it was agreed that a 
Dependents’ Carers’ allowance be made available to members. The 
criteria for making a Dependents’ Carers’ claim is detailed in Section 
4.2. 

 
Changes to the Members’ Allowances Scheme were agreed at the 
meeting of the full Council in September 2014. The changes included 
an increase in the basic allowance for all members, an increase in 
some Special Responsibility Allowances (SRAs), the creation of new 
SRAs for positions which previously had none, and the deletion of 
some positions for which an SRA was previously payable.  
 
The full list of allowances is included as Appendix Four. 

 
4.2  The changes which were agreed made provision for members to claim 

a Dependents’ Carers’ Allowance to facilitate their attendance at 
meetings. The wording for this is as follows: 

 
‘Dependants’ Carers’ Allowance 
 
A dependants’ carers’ allowance may be claimed by a councillor in 
respect of such expenses of arranging for the care of their children or 
dependants as are necessarily incurred in the attendance at meetings 
or the performance of functions of a type specified in Schedule 2 
provided that: 
 
i) the allowance will be for reimbursement only of the reasonable costs 
of such care which shall be equal to the hourly rate of the London 
Living Wage (unless special care is required and approved); and 
 
ii) approval of the claim is sought from the Head of Executive and 
Member Services prior to the meeting.’ 

 
4.3 The Mayor’s Office and Member Development Manager is responsible 

for administering the Members’ Allowances Scheme and will oversee 
the receipt, processing and payment of all appropriate Dependents’ 
Carers’ claims submitted by members. To date, no such claims have 
been made. 

Page 10



7 
 

 
4.4 In September 2014, full Council also agreed, in acknowledgement of 

the increases made to the allowances within the scheme, that the 
travel allowance and other expenses currently provided for within the 
scheme be deleted. The previous provision for members to claim travel 
expenses for travel to and from events in connection to their role as 
councillor (outside of the borough) was deleted. No travel expenses 
have been claimed since the Standards Committee last scrutinised 
expenses claims on 8 January 2014. 

 
5.0 Financial Implications 

5.1 The costs of the member learning and development programme are 
met from a budget of £17,352 annually. An additional amount was 
made available for this current financial year in recognition that the 
forecast costs of an induction year would significantly exceed the 
current budget.  

 
5.2 Such costs included the services of an external consultant to deliver 

the Members’ Needs Analysis (MNA) project, as well as external 
facilitators who have delivered specific skill sessions including Scrutiny 
training, Questioning Skills and Chairing Skills, as well as a separate 
Cabinet development programme. 
 

6.0 Legal Implications 
 
6.1 None for the Member Development Programme. 
 
6.2 The Local Government (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 

2003, as amended, requires the council to have the records available 
for public inspection.  During the period 1 May 2013 to 1 April 2014 no 
member of the public came to inspect the records.  

 
6.3 The Local Government (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 

2003, as amended, requires publication in a locally-circulating 
newspaper following any amendment to the scheme. A notice was duly 
published in the Wembley Observer on 2 October 2014. 

 
7.0 Diversity Implications 
 
7.1 There are positive diversity implications arising from the provision for a 

Dependents’ Carers’ allowance for members. This will facilitate the 
attendance of members at meetings they may not otherwise have been 
able to attend. 

  

Page 11



8 
 

For further information please contact: 
 
Rhiannon Leary 
Mayor’s Office and Member 
Development Manager  
Tel: 020 8937 1158 
rhiannon.leary@brent.gov.uk 
 
 
 

 
Thomas Cattermole 
Head of Executive and Member 
Services 
Tel: 020 8937 5446 
Thomas.Cattermole@brent.gov.uk 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 12



Induction evening 
27 May 2014

A & E 
Licensing 

for 
Committee 
Members         

9 June 2014

Planning  for 
Committee 
Mambers   

12 June 2014

Local 
Government 
Finance       
25 June

Regeneration 
and Housing  
30 June 2014

If I'd Known Then 
What I Know Now              

3 July 2014

Regeneration 
Coach Tour of 

Borough           
7 July 2014 

Scrutiny 
Committee   
7 July 2014

x x
x x x x
x x x x
x x
x x x
x

x x
x x x
x x x x x
x x x
x x x x x
x x x x x
x x
x x x

x x
x

x

x x
x x
x

x x
x x

P
age 13



x x x x x
x x
x x x
x

x x
x x
x x x x x
x

x x
x x
x

x

x x x
x x x x x x x
x x
x

x

x x x
x x
x

x

x Apols
x

x x x
x Apols
x

x

x

x x x
x

x x

P
age 14



x

x x
x

x x x x
x

x Apols
x

59 10 8 16 14 9 6 12

P
age 15



Standards 
& Code of 
Conduct           

9 July 2014

Planning 
for  

Committee 
Members     
10 July 
2014

Corporate 
Parenting 
Committee 
14 July 2014

Public 
Realm 
Contract 
15 July 
2014 

Safeguarding 
Vulnerable 

Children         22 
July 2014

Adults, 
Health 

and Well-
Being      
30 July 
2014

Scrutiny 
training 
31 July 
2014

Employement 
and Skills 3 
September

x x x x
x x x

x
x x

x x x x x
x

Apols x
x x

x x x x
x x

x
x Apols x x x

x x x
Apols x

x
x x

x x x x x

P
age 16



x x x x x
x x x

x
x

x x x x x
x

x
x x x

x
x

x x
x x x x x

x x x
x

x
x x

x
x

x x x

x
x

x x x
x x x x x

x

P
age 17



x x x x
x

x x x x x
x

17 16 3 15 23 15 5 14

P
age 18



APPENDIX TWO 

 
 

Member Learning and Development Steering Group Terms of 
Reference 

 

The Member Learning and Development Steering Group membership is made up 
of the following Members (proposed):  
   
Councillor Michael Pavey, Deputy Leader and Lead Member for Member Services 
Councillor Sandra Kabir, Majority Party Chief Whip 
Councillor Reg Colwill, Deputy Leader of the Conservative Group 
Councillor Helen Carr, Liberal Democrat Councillor for Mapesbury 
 
The Steering Group is supported by the officers listed below:  
 
Christine Gilbert, Chief Executive 
Rhiannon Leary, Member Learning and Development Manager 
Thomas Cattermole, Head of Member Services 
 
Purpose: The Steering Group meets on a quarterly basis to discuss and review 

the council's progress in ensuring effective training and development 
for its elected representatives. 

 
The terms of reference of the Steering Group are as follows: 

1. To be champions for, and promote, the development of members. 
2. To keep the member Learning and Development Strategy relevant and up to 

date. 
3. To review and consider training and development needs with a view to 

producing comprehensive induction and an ongoing training and development 
programme. 

4. To take a leading role in helping the authority to achieve the Elected Member 
Development Charter Plus status. 

 
The Member Learning and Development Steering Group plays a crucial role in the 
achievement of the Member Learning and Development strategy. 
 

Page 19



The group is member led, and includes members from three political groups. It is 
supported by the Head of Member Services, the Member Learning and Development 
Manager and the Chief Executive, who will provide guidance on learning and 
development.  
 
Whilst officers are responsible for the administration of member development, the 
Steering Group ensures that the learning and development strategy and proposed 
programme of activities meets members’ needs and that events are scheduled and 
commissioned appropriately and effectively. Any councillor may raise items for 
consideration at these meetings through the Member Learning and Development 
Manager. 
 
The Group will meet quarterly. 

Page 20



  APPENDIX THREE 
 

 

        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
London Charter for Elected Member Development 

 
 

Brent Council 
 

Assessment Date: 8 January 2014 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 21



  APPENDIX THREE 
 

 

 
Brent Council 

 
London Charter for Elected Member Development 

 
 
 
 

Assessment Date: 8 January 2014 
 
 
 
Contents          Page 
 
 
Recommendation of the assessment team  1 
 
 
Assessment  2 
 
  
Member Development Steering Group  4 
 
 
Evidence presented and demonstrated to support the application  5 
 
 
Continuous improvement and direction of travel 14 
 
 
Preliminary indication of additional evidence required for Charter Plus 17 
 
 
 

Page 22



 

 
 
 1

 
Recommendation of the Assessment Team 
 
 
Brent Council meets and has achieved the standard of the London Charter for 
Elected Member Development.  The council has been awarded Charter status for 
three years from 8 January 2014.  The council has also committed to a process 
of continuous improvement over the next three years. 
 
The council will be required to present evidence of continuing progress as part of 
the direction of travel in eighteen months’ time and will be re-assessed in full 
against the Charter standard in three years. 
 
Councils that have successfully achieved the Charter standard are eligible to 
apply for Charter Plus accreditation.  Full details of the framework and how to 
apply are available on the South East Employers website (www.seemp.co.uk).  
This report contains, at pages 17-19, a preliminary indication of additional 
evidence that the assessors feel would need to put in place in order to achieve 
Charter Plus status. 
 
If the council does sign up for Charter Plus, then it will have 18 months from the 
date of signing up to assessment and the timetable indicated above for re-
assessment against the normal Charter in 2017 will no longer apply. 
 
 
Assessment team 
 
§ Councillor Catherine West, London Borough of Islington 
§ Mark Palmer, Development Director, SEE (Lead Assessor) 
§ Andrew Davies, Organisational Development Manager, Crawley Borough 

Council 
 
Charter standards 
 

§ Commitment to Councillor development 
§ Strategic approach to Councillor development 
§ Learning and development is effective in building capacity 
§ Supporting Councillors 

 
 
  

Page 23



 

 
 
 2

Assessment 
 
 
The assessment against the Charter took place on 8 January 2014.  The purpose 
of the assessment visit was to determine whether or not the authority met the 
Charter standard.  The assessment was based on an analysis of a portfolio of 
evidence submitted in advance by the council, a number of interviews with key 
personnel and a member workshop to verify the presented evidence and to 
identify the council’s forward plans for continuous improvement. 
 
The following people were seen during the assessment visit: 
 
Interviews (in order conducted): 
 

♦ Saskia Woolloff, Mayor’s Office and Member Development Manager 
 

♦ Councillor Muhammed Butt, Leader of the Council 
 

Member Development Steering Group 
 

♦ Councillor James Denselow (Labour) (Chair) 
♦ Councillor  Reg Colwill (Conservative) 
♦ Councillor Ann Hunter (Liberal Democrat) 

 
 
♦ Fiona Ledden, Director of Legal and Procurement 

 
♦ Christine Gilbert, Interim Chief Executive 

 
 
Leaders of Opposition Parties 
 

♦ Councillor Suresh Kansagra (Conservative) 
♦ NB Councillor Mark Cummins (Liberal Democrats) (Deputy for Councillor 

Paul Lorber) was interviewed by telephone on 20 December 2013. 
 
 
Workshop members: 
 

♦ Councillor Shafique Choudhary 
♦ Councillor Patricia Harrison 
♦ Councillor Jean Hossain 
♦ Councillor Lesley Jones 
♦ Councillor Sandra Kabir 
♦ Councillor Janice Long 
♦ Councillor Tayo Oladapo 

 

Page 24



 

 
 
 3

 
Brent Council originally achieved Charter recognition in October 2010 and made 
a commitment to retaining the London Boroughs Charter for Elected Member 
Development in November 2013. 
 
The project management and officer support of the Charter was assigned to 
Saskia Woolloff, Mayor’s Office and Member Development Manager, who 
supports the Member Development Steering Group.  Saskia took on this 
responsibility whilst covering a period of maternity leave and many of the 
members interviewed were complimentary about her role in supporting member 
development.  The council’s approach ensures that there is effective support to 
the members responsible for promoting and leading improvement in member 
development.  All Councillors interviewed as part of the assessment process 
spoke of how much they recognised and valued the officer support available to 
them. 
 
The council provided the assessment team with a portfolio of evidence to support 
its Charter application.  The evidence presented in the portfolio was drawn from a 
wide range of sources and gave a good overview of the council’s member 
development activities.  It was linked to the four Charter standards, with each 
section having some introductory text to set the context, before highlighting 
specific examples of where different elements of the Charter standard were met. 
 
The planning and co-ordination of the assessment visit was well structured and 
courteous, enabling the team to acquire the information needed for the 
assessment to be thorough and representative. 
 
 
  

Page 25



 

 
 
 4

Member Development Steering Group 
 
 
The Member Development Steering Group played the key role in ensuring that 
the Charter accreditation process was member led and was accountable to the 
council.  Its membership is representative of the whole authority: 
 

§ Councillor James Denselow (Labour) (Chair) 
§ Councillor Reg Colwill (Conservative) 
§ Councillor Ann Hunter (Liberal Democrat) 
§ Ben Spinks, Assistant Chief Executive 
§ Fiona Ledden, Director of Legal and Procurement 
§ Cathy Tyson, Operational Director Corporate Policy 
§ Saskia Woolloff, Mayor’s Office and Member Development Manager 

 
The Member Development Steering Group was established in 2003 and meets 
on a regular basis.  This group is clearly referenced in the “2010 Vision: Taking 
Training and Development Forward” document and its role was also clearly 
articulated to the assessors on the assessment day.  The aims of the Member 
Development Steering Group were provided and are: 
 

1. To consider proposals for the development of the Member Development 
Programme. 
 

2. To consider longer-term strategic objectives for the Member Development 
Programme. 
 

3. To provide links with the political groups on the council. 
 

4. Co-operation on a cross-party basis regarding how best to manage the 
programme. 
 

5. To monitor the programme to ensure it continues to cater directly for 
councillors’ needs. 

 
In addition, “the aim of the Member Development Programme is to equip 
councillors with the skills and knowledge to be able to effectively carry out their 
roles in the council and in the community.” 
 
 
   

Page 26



 

 
 
 5

 
Evidence presented and demonstrated to support the application 
 
 
§ Commitment to Councillor development 
 
 
The political and managerial leadership was clearly committed to member 
development and meeting the Charter standard.  This was evident from the 
interviews conducted with a range of members and officers from across the 
organisation.  In addition, there was clear reference to this in minutes from a 
Member Development and Ward Working Steering Group meeting.  There was a 
clear recognition of the importance of member development and the council has 
been on a journey of improving its approach to member development over a 
number of years.  Signing up to the Charter again last year provided further 
impetus to the activities necessary to achieve what the council wanted. 
 
Brent Council has not been immune to the challenges facing local government in 
recent years; which will continue going forward.  Over the past couple of years 
the council has had changes to the Executive and Corporate Management Team 
membership.  With a new Chief Executive due to be appointed later in 2014 and 
likely changes to the Executive team following the forthcoming elections, the 
council will need to remain focused on further developing the capabilities of all of 
its Councillors.  The assessors felt that this would happen. 
 
The council had developed a concise member development strategy through its 
“2010 Vision: Taking Training and Development Forward” document.  This set 
out the council’s commitments to member development, summarising the main 
achievements to date and identifying some specific actions about how to take 
member training and development forward.  Its declaration states: 
 

“Brent Council is committed to a development programme which supports 
and expands members’ abilities to understand and represent their 
communities and to building training and support according to the 
expressed desires of front line councillors as they carry out their work.  
The programme supports member-led partnership working and uses 
flexible learning methods to continuously improve delivery to members, in 
accordance with the aims and standards set in the Corporate Strategy 
2010-2014.” 

 
The Leader of the Council articulated his commitment to member development 
and his enthusiasm for the role in supporting member development was clearly 
evident.  The leadership of the two minority political groups also confirmed their 
commitment to member development.  Members interviewed on the assessment 
day were able to provide examples of how member training is implemented in 
practice, both within their groups and more widely across the council. 
 

Page 27



 

 
 
 6

This commitment was supported by a high profile Member Development Steering 
Group, which comprises members from each political party and is chaired by an 
Executive member.  It was evident that this group is fully committed to member 
development and it has worked hard, particularly over recent years, to maintain a 
high profile for member development.  The council’s approach is genuinely 
member led but gets a steer from the officers. 
 
Senior management commitment to member development was evidenced 
through the provision of officer and budget support.  The council has over a 
number of years provided a dedicated budget for member training and 
development.  From 2010-11 to 2013-14 a member development budget of 
£16,852 has been available to support member training across the council.  This 
was fully spent in the first two years of the current council, following the elections 
in May 2010 and the need to support a range of new members.  The council 
believes that it has sufficient budget to deliver an effective range of member 
development activities.  The budget has been primarily deployed to support 
members attending external seminars and to fund bringing in external expertise 
to deliver specialist training sessions and support the council’s Personal 
Development Planning (PDP) activity.  Some development activities have been 
resourced through utilising internal officer support to provide practical workshops.  
The Member Development Steering Group monitors budget expenditure and 
discusses it during regular meetings, with key issues being documented in the 
subsequent meeting minutes. 
 
The Director of Legal and Procurement as well as the Mayor’s Office and 
Member Development Manager are responsible for member training and this is 
reflected in their job descriptions.  The assessment team were told that the 
recently appointed Assistant Chief Executive will have responsibility for member 
development.  Member development is managed solely within the Member 
Service function, with no involvement from the central Human Resources team.  
Management commitment to member development was clear and it was evident 
that there were excellent member and officer relationships across the 
organisation, which contributed to the effective development of members. 
 
There was evidence that members had been consulted about member 
development and that they were aware of the strategy and resultant actions.  The 
question “Do you feel that political and managerial leadership is committed to the 
development of councillors and have strategies in place to improve councillor and 
council performance? Please provide examples” was included in the ‘Member 
Development Programme 2010-2014 Questionnaire’, issued to members. 
 
The visible commitment to member development was further demonstrated 
through the annual Council Calendar.  This includes all member development 
programme dates, taking account of cultural and personal circumstances as well 
as providing different approaches to developing members’ knowledge and skills. 
 
It was clear that the Member Development Steering Group has worked hard to 
maintain member development as a high profile activity across the Council.  The 

Page 28



 

 
 
 7

members and officers interviewed seemed keen to build on the council’s work to 
date and take on board feedback received in order to improve the provision of 
member development activities for 2014-18. 
 
 
 
 
Comments that we heard: 
 
“The member development budget was fully spent in the early years due to 
developing PDPs and the training support from external providers.” 
 
“We have a clear cross-party member development group which does not have 
any political issues.” 
 
“I see attendance at the Member Development Steering Group as a priority.” 
 
“I recognise the importance or of engaging with back bench Councillors so they 
have a voice within the council.” 
 
“I feel there is cross-party support for member development.” 
 
“We need to spread the load for responsibility for member development.” 
 
“The Member Development Steering Group needs to be re-invigorated so it is 
more member-led.” 
 
“It’s disappointing that more of the newer Councillors do not attend more 
training.” 
 
 
 
 
§ Strategic approach to Councillor development 
 
Members, whether directly involved in leading development improvements or not, 
were clear that it is members and not officers who determine which member 
learning activities are offered at the council.  Similarly, officers described their 
roles as those of facilitators and emphasised that they listen to member feedback 
and adapt their approaches in the light of this.  The assessors were clear that the 
Member Development Steering Group is involved in the formulation, 
implementation, monitoring and evaluation of member development activities and 
that it has a high profile amongst all members; being recognised as the driving 
strategic force.  These factors, combined with the “2010 Vision: Taking Training 
and Development Forward” document, help reinforce the council’s strategic 
approach. 
 

Page 29



 

 
 
 8

The council’s Member Development Programme includes a range of 
development activities designed to address members’ individual development 
needs as well as meeting priorities and emerging issues outlined in the council’s 
Corporate Plan.   
 
Learning needs are identified using an individual Personal Development Planning 
process.  This involves members having a one-to-one discussion with an external 
facilitator, the output of which is a Personal Development Plan (PDP).  This is a 
voluntary process for members, and 36 members had taken the opportunity in 
2010-11 to complete a Personal Development Plan.  The assessors felt that this 
approach could be maintained following the May 2014 elections, with a 70% 
completion rate being a realistic target. 
 
These PDPs are not the only mechanism used to establish member development 
needs.  Corporate issues such as the need to increase members’ IT skills 
following the council’s move to its new Civic Centre in 2013 and the adoption of 
new ways of working; highlighted the importance of providing members with 
devices such as iPads to manage their responsibilities more effectively. A 
strategic approach has also been used to develop the induction programme for 
new Councillors.  Whilst the 2010 programme covered a variety of topics felt to 
be beneficial to members, the assessors felt that the council would benefit from 
taking a more strategic approach to the 2014 induction programme; seeking input 
from more stakeholders and taking account of the changing council environment 
to provide a programme that will equip members with the knowledge and skills for 
the 2014-18 council term. 
 
The council invested in a leadership development programme in late 2013.  This 
LGA facilitated programme included individual session with the Executive and 
Corporate Management Team; which were followed by a joint event.  The 
assessors believe the council would benefit from further joint leadership 
development events.  Also, whilst there are examples of individual members 
attending some of the targeted Leadership Academy sessions, there will be 
benefit in the council investing in some individual leadership development for key 
members, such as new Executive members, which will improve the capability of 
the Executive. 
 
The council has clear role descriptions for members, including those in 
leadership roles, such as Executive members and committee Chairs.  These are 
available on the council’s intranet and the strategic and operation responsibilities 
of members are outlined in the Members’ Handbook, which will be updated prior 
to the elections this year. 
 
The council demonstrated that it operates a structured and timely approach to 
promoting development opportunities.  This is via the Member Development 
Programme and regular updates to members.  Members that the assessors met 
confirmed that they receive sufficient notice of training sessions to allow them to 
plan their attendance.  The council has already undertaken some learning 
activities with other authorities, for example the joint Leadership Skills session 

Page 30



 

 
 
 9

with Harrow Council, in September 2013.  Whilst this event was not well 
attended, the council would benefit from pursuing further opportunities for joint 
working with neighbouring councils to both share learning / good practice and 
increase value for money from the member development budget.  An early 
opportunity may be in working with some neighbouring authorities on joint 
member induction events. 
 
 
 
 
Comments that we heard: 
 
“The Member Development Steering Group is well regarded within their political 
groups.” 
 
“Member development needs are linked to corporate priorities, for example when 
there’s a change such as housing reforms, when some training is set up.” 
 
“We do get asked about what we want from member development.” 
 
“One of the things I found useful, as we can be quite inward looking, was 
attending the London Councils Summit.” 
 
“One example I’ve seen, with IT training, is where we’ve turned it round to 
consider what the need was and why it was (the training) not so successful.” 
 
“There will be a new Borough Plan, with member training linked to that.” 
 
“We’ve tried to bring some more collaboration to member development activities.” 
 
“The training that’s provided locally is quite flexible.” 
 
“Rather than being in silos, we have the opportunity to learn from best practice.” 
(Regarding attending external events) 
 
“Commitment is really strong and we just need to shape up a better programme.” 
 
“I think we haven’t opened up (in terms of cross-authority working).” 
 
“Safeguarding is a very big job and is a regular item on meeting agendas.” 
 
 
 
  

Page 31



 

 
 
 10 

§ Learning and development is effective in building capacity 
 
The demands placed on Councillors in recent years has increased, as has the 
need for robust support for member development.  The council records 
attendance at development events and there is a clear approach to evaluation in 
place to help demonstrate the benefits of member development.  Post training 
feedback is collected from participants and the initial responses to development 
activities have generally been positive.  The Member Development Steering 
Group reviews feedback from training events which are organised or facilitated 
by the council and draws conclusions from these to highlight improvements for 
the future. 
 
The council’s officers and members were clear that member development has 
improved the performance of individual members and functions.  Examples of 
completed feedback for the ‘Tackling Violence Against Women’ and ‘Smarter 
Working’ sessions were included as part of the council’s portfolio of evidence.  A 
‘Review of the Member Development Programme and Members Expenses May 
2012 – December 2013’ report was produced for the standards Committee, 
which referred to some of the benefits derived from member development 
activities. 
 
The council completed an evaluation of its 2010-14 Member Development 
Programme; which covered general member training events, the induction 
programme for new Councillors and the benefits of the Personal Development 
Planning activity.  The Member Development Steering Group reacted to some 
low attendance at some development events, such as the pilot joint event held in 
September with Harrow Council.  The group has been considering ways to 
increase member participation, although acknowledged that this was partly an 
issue towards the end of the current council’s term as members became more 
experienced.  Low attendance had been less of an issue in the first years of the 
Member Development Programme.  The assessors discussed the importance of 
the Member Development Steering Group placing more emphasis on increasing 
attendance, particularly at more business critical topics.  It would help that this is 
initiated and re-emphasised during the new induction programme. 
 
The assessors saw examples in the portfolio of evidence as we’ll as heard 
examples from members on the day about the benefits of some of the 
development activities.  The assessors noted that a strong focus on IT training 
which had allowed for more effective communication between Councillors and 
members of the public.  There were numerous positive references to the IT 
training and support received. 
 
Some of the benefits of member development that members felt they’d personally 
gained included: greater confidence in understanding the ways committees 
worked and how to contribute to them effectively; better skills in using IT and 
public speaking; and better understanding how local authorities operate and their 
responsibilities as Councillors.  In terms of benefits to the council, members felt: 
they understand more and are better able to contribute to issues such as safe 

Page 32



 

 
 
 11 

guarding, as well as current issues such as welfare reform, licensing and 
planning.  In terms of some benefits to their communities, they felt: better able to 
manage their case work and deal with residents’ concerns / issues; better skilled 
at dealing with any complaints; and more aware of specific issues within the 
borough, such as the levels of violence against women. 
 
The council is increasingly using technology to share learning; for example, 
copies of training slides and materials are included on the members’ pages of the 
intranet and on the ‘BoardPad’ facility, providing greater access to these 
materials for all members.  The use of a variety of development approaches, 
such as role play, audience participation, mock scenarios and question and 
answer sessions, as well as more traditional PowerPoint presentations and 
conference attendance, has been welcomed by members and should be 
maintained to ensure training is effective. 
 
Whilst the council completes initial post training reviews, it could consider using a 
more formal evaluation framework.  This might include completing some follow-
up work three to six months after an event or an approach that measures 
knowledge/skills at the start and end of development activities and afterwards to 
more specifically identify the benefits gained. 
 
The assessors heard about internal political group peer mentoring arrangements 
for new members within at least one political group that has proved beneficial.  
The council should consider how it can introduce a corporate mentoring 
programme to provide this development opportunity to all new Councillors.  Some 
mentoring training for appropriate members would be beneficial in providing a 
consistent quality of mentoring to new councillors across all political groups. 
 
 
 
 
Comments that we heard: 
 
“We seek feedback from sessions and feed this into the Member Development 
Steering Group.” 
 
“We encourage attendance at external seminars to better understand the national 
picture.” 
 
“When we did the training for public speaking the role plays did improve my 
confidence with the public . . . .  it helped a lot.” 
 
“I never thought that I’d be happy using IT / iPhones.  I feel more confident.” 
 
“There is the opportunity for us to feed in ideas for training sessions.” 
 
“Next time we will do PDPs to span four years not two.” 
 

Page 33



 

 
 
 12 

“We need to be looking more at reviewing training on a more regular basis.” 
 
“We need to be more ‘fleet of foot’ about the benefits of development and focus 
more on regular feedback following events rather than annually, so we have a 
constant form of assessment.” 
 
“We need to encourage colleagues to deliver some of the training to members.” 
 
“We need training on financial matters and reading budgets, so Councillors can 
do their jobs more effectively.” 
 
“Let’s not just have PowerPoint presentations let’s have more ways that are 
accessible for members.” 
 
“One of the weaknesses is the lack of Councillor assessment. 
 
 
 
 
§ Supporting Councillors 
 
The council recognises the importance of supporting Councillors in their role as 
community leaders as well as encouraging more people from across the 
community to consider becoming Councillors.  Prior to the 2010 elections the 
council sent detailed information to prospective Councillors and the same is 
being planned for 2014.  Information will include a letter to all prospective 
Councillors in addition to an outline of the Member Induction Programme and 
other background details such as: member training, political group offices, 
member allowances, civic life, members’ legal duty, Code of Conduct, standards 
and background details about local government.  These are detailed more fully in 
the Members’ Handbook. 
 
The Council recognises the importance of community engagement and helping to 
make it and its Councillors more accessible to the community.  For Local 
Democracy Week in 2013, the council arranged a programme of events including 
activities such as: Brent Question Time, visits to schools, Brent Connects 
meetings for young people and the launch of the Mayor’s Twitter account.  There 
is also a Brent Youth Parliament.  Minutes from the Children and Young People 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (10 October 2013) provided further evidence 
of the council supporting Councillors and its community. 
 
The annual Council Calendar includes all Member Development Programme 
dates, taking account of cultural and personal circumstances through providing 
both daytime and evening training sessions.  This is also reinforced through the 
regular member development ‘Programme of Events’ document, which is issued 
to members on a regular basis and provides details about forthcoming events.  
An example of where the council had provided tailored support to a partially 
sighted member was in providing a large print version of the Member 

Page 34



 

 
 
 13 

Development Programme and details about the Personal Development Plan 
activity.  The ‘Smarter Working’ training session was designed to help members 
with their use of social media and the internet to support them to work more 
effectively with and engage more widely with their communities.   
 
To further support members engage with their communities more effectively, 
specifically regarding their approach to communication, each member has been 
provided with iPads and iPhones.  This allows instant access to email, the 
internet, council papers and social media applications.  Training has been 
provided and members have a dedicated officer to provide IT support. 
 
 
 
 
Comments that we heard: 
 
“We provide repeat sessions where needed.” 
 
“We see that if members want to attend training they receive this – particularly 
external courses.” 
 
“Minority groups’ members regularly attend courses / external courses.” 
 
“I believe that all of the groups’ members have equality of access to training.” 
 
“The council brought in the idea of afternoon sessions, which has been better.” 
 
“It’s so important that relationships between members and officers are 
established from the start - from induction.” 
 
 
 
  

Page 35



 

 
 
 14 

 
Continuous improvement and direction of travel 
 
 
Brent Council has been successful in retaining the Charter through continuing to 
meet the Charter standard.  The Council has a solid foundation on which to build 
during 2014 and in the future.  The following areas were felt by the assessors to 
be particular strengths: 
 
 
• There is top political and management commitment to member development.  

The Leader clearly demonstrated an enthusiasm for and commitment to 
member development.  This was echoed by other Group Leaders.  All the 
members we met demonstrated a strong level of commitment and 
consequent understanding of the importance and need for member 
development.  The recently appointed Assistant Chief Executive has 
responsibility for member development. 
 

• There is a cross–party Member Development Steering Group, which has a 
clear remit for leading member development.  The assessors were 
impressed at the level of engagement and commitment from this group as a 
whole.  It is clear that the council is committed to the ongoing development of 
all its members. 
 

• There is dedicated officer support and the assessors want to compliment 
Saskia Woolloff on her contribution to member development over recent 
months, whilst covering the post holder’s maternity leave. 
 

• The council has a sustainable budget of £16, 852, which has been 
maintained for a number of years and which has been utilised, particularly in 
the early years of the 2010-14 Member Development Programme. 
 

• There is a clear and structured policy, laid down in the “2010 Vision: Taking 
Training and Development Forward.”  This is supported with some clear aims 
for the Member Development Steering Group.  There was a comprehensive 
and structured induction programme developed for new Councillors in 2010; 
which will be built on prior to the May 2014 elections. 
 

• There is a Personal Development Plan (PDP) process in place, which had a 
good response rate in 2010-11; helping to identify priority member 
development needs. 
 

• There has been some external leadership development provided; specifically 
by the Local Government Association which provided a programme in 
October and November 2013.  This was for the Executive and Corporate 
Management Team (CMT) and this programme incorporated both separate 
and joint sessions. 
 

Page 36



 

 
 
 15 

• The council has an evaluation process in place. 
 
 
• Assessors’ suggested improvement areas 
 
The following are areas that the council could work towards over the next three 
years.  They will act as a focus for the direction of travel to take forward member 
development.  The council may also identify further key areas for improvement 
during this time to reflect the changing and emerging priorities of the council; 
particularly following the May 2014 elections, revising the Corporate Plan and 
appointment of a new Chief Executive later in the year. 
 

• The council will benefit from having a more focused approach to joining up 
member development priorities with corporate priorities. 
 

• Member development will be enhanced through raising the profile of the 
Member Development Steering Group, particularly leading up to and 
following the forthcoming elections.  Reviewing and strengthening the 
working group’s ‘terms of reference’ and aims; along with identifying how 
wider support can be provided for member development may help with 
this. 
 

• Whilst the induction programme for new Councillors in 2010 was 
beneficial; the council would benefit from completing a comprehensive 
review of its draft Induction Programme for 2014.  Following internal and 
external changes / influences over the past two years, the council is in a 
different position and the next induction programme will benefit from 
incorporating these factors, rather than just repeating the previous 
programme.  The induction programme might also want to develop some 
joint activities with neighbouring councils to increase value for money from 
the member development budget. 
 

• With recent changes in the Cabinet and CMT, as well as likely Cabinet 
changes following the next elections, the council needs to consider further 
Executive development activities.  These could include individuals 
attending external events to learn from and interact with others; as well as 
further joint Executive and CMT events. 
 

• The Council would benefit from being less inward looking and to seek 
opportunities to learn from good practice from other London councils and 
external organisations. 
 

• Whilst the council completes some initial review of member development 
activities’ effectiveness; the approach would be enhanced through having 
a more rigorous approach.  This could be achieved through completing 
some follow-up review activities and developing case studies of effective 
Councillor learning.  These may also help sell the benefits of member 
development more widely to help increase take of up development 

Page 37



 

 
 
 16 

opportunities. 
 

• The council would benefit from increasing the roll-out of PDPs for 
Councillors to increase the quality and quantity of member development 
needs.  A target of a 70% response rate would be challenging and the 
PDPs would benefit from being more focused on performance.  The 
assessors recommend that the council continues to use an external 
facilitator to lead this activity. 
 

• The resultant Member Development Programme for 2014-18 will benefit 
from responding to PDP priorities, corporate priorities as well as a political 
skills audit. 
 

• Exit interviews with those Councillors that choose to stand down at the 
May 2014 elections should help to provide some useful feedback to further 
improve the member development offering at the council. 
 

• Whilst the assessors heard about informal mentoring within at least one 
political group, the council, and particularly its new Councillors, would 
benefit from having a corporate mentoring programme.  This could be 
rolled out via political groups.  The assessors recommend that some 
mentor training is provided in advance of the forthcoming elections and 
delivered to those members that are keen to take on some mentoring 
responsibilities. 
 

• To consider an application for Charter Plus, to build on the solid 
foundations laid for member development over recent years and 
recognised by this successful re-accreditation. 
 

 
Improvement areas identified by the Council’s officers and members 
 

• Have more short and timely briefing sessions for members on topical 
issues, such as policy, scrutiny and changes to legislation, for example in 
education. 
 

• ‘Spread the load’ for member development so that responsibility doesn’t 
just sit with the Leader and Member Development Steering Group.  Other 
senior members and officers will have an important role to play in 
promoting the Member Development Programme and its benefits. 
 

• Complete a short strategic review of the draft induction programme for 
2014, to ensure that it’s effective in equipping new Councillors with the 
knowledge and skills to perform their role in the context of the changes 
required at the council. 
 

Page 38



 

 
 
 17 

• Increase the take up from members for development activities so that 
development opportunities are provided to a broader base of members. 
 

• Build on the importance of members that sit on Planning and Licensing 
Committees needing to attend training to encourage greater attendance 
on selected other topics, such as Chairing skills and new Councillors 
attending Induction programme events. 
 

• Look more outside of the council to learn from others and help avoid 
becoming too inward looking. 
 

• More IT training, preferably on a one-to-one basis. 
 
 
South East Employers would like to discuss with the council in eighteen months 
to evaluate the programme of continuous improvement and direction of travel and 
in three years for a reassessment.  We look forward to the council supporting 
South East Employers in promoting the benefits of the Charter to councils across 
the London region. The council may continue to use the national elected member 
development charter logo. 
 
The process of assessment undertaken in the council may be subject to a quality 
assurance review by the Local Government Association. 
 
 
 
Charter Plus 
 
All councils that have successfully achieved the Charter Standard are eligible to 
apply for Charter Plus.  Full details of the framework and how to apply are 
available on the South East Employers website (www.seemp.co.uk) and I would 
be happy to discuss this in more detail at any time.  I have set out below a 
preliminary indication of those additional steps that the Council would need 
evidence under each standard in order to achieve Charter Plus status. 
 
 
Commitment to Councillor development: 
 
• Examples can be provided of how learning is shared with other authorities 

across the tiers of local government. 
• Member development / support staff have access to their own ongoing 

professional development. 
• Member development and support staff are involved in regional and national 

learning networks. 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



 

 
 
 18 

Strategic approach to Councillor development: 
 
• Robust evaluation process is in place and can be evidenced. 
• Evidence that evaluation feedback contributes to review and further 

development of strategy. 
• Evidence that a review and discussion takes place with Executive and CMT at 

least once per year (to ensure ongoing linkage to corporate plan). 
• Member role descriptions exist and are maintained for all key roles including 

ward councillor, and those role descriptions are used to help identify 
development needs. 

• Evidence that members are clear about the role of partner bodies (e.g. LSPs), 
other stakeholder bodies (e.g. Primary Care Trust), their own role on partner 
bodies and their own role in relation to other stakeholder bodies. 

• Council has successfully piloted a 360° diagnostic and 70% of Member’s have 
a Personal Development Plan in place that is regularly reviewed. 

• Evidence that briefing sessions and materials are provided and publicised on 
emerging issues (e.g. legislative changes, government white papers). 

• At least 90% of all councillors feel they have adequate access to development 
opportunities. 

• External partners are involved in relevant development sessions. 
• Evidence of a programme to develop the next generation of leaders and to 
support succession planning. 

• Some form of impact assessment at the community level exists and is used 
(e.g. by asking for feedback from partners). 

 
 
 
Learning and development is effective in building capacity: 
 
• Clear process showing how end of event evaluation feeds into impact 

evaluation and to review development of the training programme. 
• Evidence of post event follow-up evaluation to assess performance change 

(e.g. through PDP process). 
• Members report back to group on conferences and external development 

opportunities. 
 
 
 
Supporting Councillors: 
 
• Evidence that council reviews its arrangements and timings of meetings and 

the way it conducts its business to take account of cultural, faith, travel needs 
and family commitments of Councillors and open up the role to as many 
people as possible including those in employment. 

• Council is building links with local businesses and employers to promote the 
role of councillor. 

Page 40



 

 
 
 19 

• Council is building links with young people’s groups to promote the role of 
Councillor. 

• Councillors are a source of knowledge, both internally and externally, and 
share their perspectives on new initiatives and Government policies to update 
others. 

 
 
 
Congratulations on achieving the Charter standard! 
 
 
Mark Palmer 
Development Director 
South East Employers for and on behalf of the Assessment Team 
 
January 2014 

Page 41



Page 42

This page is intentionally left blank



  

APPENDIX 
FOUR 

 
  

Schedule 1  
 

    Allowance Number of Posts  Amount (£) Total  (£) 

    Basic  
   Payable to all councillors  63 10000 630,000 

    Special Responsibility  
   Only one special responsibility allowance will be paid to any 

one member  
  

 
    Post  

   Leader 1 38,964 38,964 
Executive Members  

   Deputy Leader  1 28,397 28,397 
Other Executive members  6 18,711 112,266 

    Chair of the Scrutiny Committee 1 14,000 14,000 
Vice Chair Scrutiny (Main Opposition Group) 1 5,000 5,000 

    Chair of Council Committees 
   Planning Committee  1 13,340 13,340 

Standards Committee 1 2,134 2,134 
 Co-Chair Youth Parliament  1 2,134 2,134 
Chairs of sub-Committees 

   Pension Fund sub-Committee 1 2,134 2,134 
Chairs of Service User Consultative Forums  5 2,134 10,670 
Chairs of Service Area Consultative Forums  5 4,825 24,125 
Members of Alcohol and Entertainment Licensing Committee 15 2,134 32,010 
Members of Planning Committee  6 3,202 19,212 
Members of Scrutiny Committee 6 3,170 19,020 
Member of Adoption and Permanency Panel 1 3,202 3,202 
Member of Fostering Panel 1 3,202 3,202 
Group Leader of the principal Opposition Group or where 
there is more than one group of the same size such group as 
the Council shall decide  1 12,785 12,785 
One Opposition Group allowance to the Principal Opposition 
Group 1 2,134 2,134 
Group Whip for the majority party where that party exceeds 
more than 50% of the seats 

1 5,528 5,528 

Deputy Whips for the majority group  2 2,134 4,226 
Mayor 1 9,000 9,000 
Deputy Mayor  1 7,000 7,000 

    Co-opted and Independent Members  
   Voting co-opted members   4 222 1332 

    

    Non Voting co-opted member of Standards Committee 1 419 419 
Audit Committee Chair 1 419 419 Page 43



 

 

Page 44



 
Meeting 
Date  

Version no. 
Date  

 
 

 

 

Standards Committee 
9th December 2014  

Report from the Director of Legal 
and Procurement 

For Action 
  

Wards Affected: 
ALL 

  

Review of the Protocol for Member/Office Relations 
and the Local Code of Corporate Governance  

 
1.0 Summary 
 
1.1 Members periodically review the Codes and Protocols which form part 

of the Constitution and which set out standards of conduct for members 
and for the Council generally. The Protocol for Member/Office 
Relations and the Local Code of Corporate Governance have been 
reviewed and some amendments are proposed to those documents. 

 
2.0 Recommendations 
 
That  Members  
 
2.1 endorse the changes made to the Protocol for Member/Officer relations 

attached as Appendix 1 
2.2 endorse the changes made to the Local Code of Corporate 

Governance attached as Appendix 2. 
 
3.0 Detail 
 
Protocol for Member/Office Relations 

 
3.1 The Protocol for Member/Officer Relations sets out the separation of 

roles between members and officers. It forms part of the various Codes 
for members’ conduct and failure to comply with the Protocol could 
result in an allegation of breach of the Code of Conduct which may be 
investigated and reported to the Standards Committee. There is a 

Agenda Item 5

Page 45



 
Meeting 
Date  

Version no. 
Date  

 
 

similar Code of Conduct in relation to Officers which can result in 
disciplinary proceedings. The minor changes to the Protocol shown as 
track changes in Appendix 1 are to clarify the status of the document 
and ensure that the Codes for officers and members are consistent and 
clear. The Protocol forms part of the Council’s Constitution and any 
final amended version will be presented to Full Council for agreement. 

 
Local Code of Corporate Governance  

 
3.2 Councils must be able to demonstrate compliance with the principles of 

good governance. To assist in developing the approach to good 
governance, CIPFA/SOLACE issued Delivering Good Governance in 
Local Government: Framework and an accompanying guidance note in 
2007. CIPFA/SOLACE has since issued an addendum and updating 
guidance. The 2012 guidance note provided  
 
The overall aim is to ensure that resources are directed in accordance 
with agreed policy and according to priorities; that there is sound and 
inclusive decision making; and that there is clear accountability for the 
use of those resources, in order to achieve desired outcomes for 
service users and communities. 

 
3.3 The Framework urges each local authority to test its approach by  

reviewing its governance arrangements, developing and maintaining an 
up to date local code of governance and reporting publically on 
compliance and any changes required.   

 
3.4  The Audit Committee receives and considers the Council’s Annual 

Governance Statement in which the Council reviews and publically 
reports on its compliance with the principles and requirements set out 
in the Code and identifies any areas for improvement. The Audit 
Committee considered the 2013/14 Annual Governance Statement at 
its meeting on 26th June 2014 where the Council’s compliance was 
tested against the revised criteria set out in the updated 
CIPFA/SOLACE guidance.   

 
3.5 It is proposed that the revised and updated Local Code of Corporate 

Governance  attached as Appendix 2, which takes into account and 
reflects the principles and requirements set out in the more recent 
guidance, should replace the Code currently included in the 
Constitution which no longer represents the up to date position. The 
Code forms part of the Council’s Constitution and any final amended 
version will be presented to Full Council for agreement. 

 
  
4.0 Financial Implications 
 
4.1 This report contains no specific financial implications. 

Page 46



 
Meeting 
Date  

Version no. 
Date  

 
 

 
 
5.0 Legal Implications 
 
5.1 Regulation 4 of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011 requires the 

Council to review its system of internal control, to have those findings 
considered by the Council, or a committee of the Council (in Brent this 
function is delegated to the Audit Committee) and to publish an Annual 
Governance Statement to accompany the accounts. 

 
 
6.0 Diversity Implications 
 
6.1 This report contains no specific diversity implications. 
 
 
7.0 Staffing Implications 
 
7.1 This report contains no specific staffing implications. 
 
 
 
Background papers 
 
Brent Council Constitution 
 
 
Should any person require any further information about the issues addressed 
in this report, please contact Kathy Robinson, Senior Corporate Solicitor, on 
telephone number 020 8937 1368. 
 
 
Fiona Ledden 
Director of Legal and Procurement  
 
 

Page 47



Page 48

This page is intentionally left blank



PROTOCOL FOR MEMBERS/OFFICER RELATIONS 

 
S/BSO/Terry/Brent Constitution/Member Officer Relation 
Part 7 Page     
28  
Last Updated 7.3.2014 

 
PROTOCOL FOR MEMBER/OFFICER RELATIONS 
 
 
1. INTRODUCTION  
 
1.1. The purpose of this Protocol is to guide members and officers of the Council in 

their relations with one another.  
. 
1.2. This Protocol forms part of a series of Codes which are set out in the Constitution. 

Members are reminded that breach of this protocol could result in action being 
taken against that member under the Members’ Code of Conduct which can 
include investigation and reports to the Council’s Standards Committee. Officers 
are also bound by this protocol and breaches by officers are addressed under the 
Council’s disciplinary processes. 

 
1.3. Given the variety and complexity of such relations, this protocol does not seek to 

be either prescriptive or comprehensive.  It seeks simply to offer guidance on 
some of the issues which most commonly arise.  It is hoped, however, that the 
approach which it adopts to these issues will serve as a guide to dealing with 
other issues that may arise. 

 
1.4. This protocol is to a large extent no more than a written statement of current 

practice and convention.  In some respects, however, it seeks to promote greater 
clarity and certainty. 

 
1.5. This protocol also seeks to reflect the principles underlying the respective Codes 

of Conduct which apply to members and officers.  The shared object of these 
codes is to enhance and maintain the integrity (real and perceived) of local 
government and as such demand very high standards of personal conduct. 

 
2. RELATIONS BETWEEN MEMBERS AND OFFICERS  
 
2.1 Members and officers should at all times treat each other with respect and 

courtesy.  It is essential for the operation of the Council that there is a close 
working relationship, built on mutual respect, between members and officers. 

 
2.2 It is clearly important that there should be a close working relationship between 

the Leader, Cabinet Members or Chair of a committee or sub-committee  and the 
Chief Officers  and other senior officers.  However, such relationships should 
never be allowed to become so close, or appear to be so close, as to bring into 
question the officer's ability to deal impartially with other members and other party 
groups or with Council business generally. 

 
2.3 Officers are not obliged to attend members' surgeries and it is recommended that 

they do not.   
 
2.4 Whilst the Leader of the Cabinet or Chair of a committee (or sub-committee) will 

routinely be consulted as part of the process of drawing up the agenda for a 
forthcoming meeting, it must be recognised that in some situations a Chief Officer 
will be under a duty to submit a report on a particular matter.  Similarly, a Chief 
Officer will always be fully responsible for the contents of any reports submitted in 
his/her name.  Any issues arising between the Leader or a Chair and a Chief 
Officer in this area should be referred to the Chief Executive for resolution. 

 
 

Page 49



PROTOCOL FOR MEMBERS/OFFICER RELATIONS 

 
S/BSO/Terry/Brent Constitution/Member Officer Relation 
Part 7 Page     
29  
Last Updated 7.3.2014 

 
3. OFFICER ADVICE TO PARTY GROUPS  
 
1.1. It is common practice for party groups to give preliminary consideration to matters 

of Council business in advance of such matters being considered by the relevant 
Council decision making body.  Officers may properly be called upon to support 
and contribute to such deliberations by party groups. 

 
1.2. The support provided by officers can take many forms, ranging from a briefing 

meeting with the Leader of the Cabinet, Cabinet member, or a committee chair to 
a presentation to a full party group meeting.  Whilst in practice such officer 
support is likely to be in most demand from whichever party group is for the time 
being in control of the Council, such support is available to all party groups. 

 
1.3. Certain points must however be clearly understood by members and officers 

alike.  In particular: 
 

(a) officer support in these circumstances must not extend beyond providing 
information and advice in relation to matters of Council business.  Officers 
must not be involved in advising on matters of party business.  The 
observance of this distinction will be assisted if officers are not invited to 
be present nor attend at meetings, or parts of meetings, when matters of 
party business are to be discussed;   

 
(b) party group meetings, whilst they form part of the preliminaries to Council 

decision making, are not empowered to make decisions on behalf of the 
Council.  Conclusions reached at such meetings do not therefore rank as 
Council decisions and it is essential that they are not interpreted or acted 
upon as such;  and  

 
(c) similarly, where officers provide information and advice to party group 

meetings in relation to a matter of Council business, this cannot act as a 
substitute for providing all necessary information and advice to the Council 
or the Cabinet or a relevant committee or sub-committee thereof, when 
the matter in question is considered.  

 
3.4 Special care needs to be exercised whenever officers are involved in providing 

information and advice to a party group meeting which includes persons who are 
not members of the Council.  Such persons will not be bound by the Brent 
Members Code of Conduct (in particular, the provisions concerning the 
declaration of interests and confidentiality) and for this and other reasons officers 
may not be able to provide the same level of information and advice as they 
would to a members only meeting. 

 
3.5 Officers must respect the confidentiality of any party group discussions at which 

they are present in the sense that they should not relay the content of any such 
discussion to another party group.  Similarly, members should not disclose 
confidential or exempt information to other persons, including other members and 
non-members who may not be entitled to receive that information. 

 
3.6 Any particular cases of difficulty or uncertainty in this area of officer advice to 

party groups should be raised with the Chief Executive who will discuss them with 
the relevant group leader(s). 

 
4 SUPPORT SERVICES TO MEMBERS AND PARTY GROUPS  
 

Page 50



PROTOCOL FOR MEMBERS/OFFICER RELATIONS 

 
S/BSO/Terry/Brent Constitution/Member Officer Relation 
Part 7 Page     
30  
Last Updated 7.3.2014 

4.1 The only basis upon which the Council can lawfully provide support services (e.g. 
stationery, typing, printing, photocopying, transport, etc) to members is to assist 
them in discharging their role as members of the Council.  Such support services 
must therefore only be used on Council business.  They should never be used in 
connection with party political or campaigning activity or for private purposes.  

 
4.2 Members should not seek, and officers should not provide, support or assistance 

for any other purpose, including political purposes. 
 
 
5 CORRESPONDENCE  
 
5.1 It should not normally be necessary for an officer to copy correspondence 

between an individual member and the officer to any other member.  Where, 
exceptionally, it is necessary to copy the correspondence to another member, this 
should be made clear to the author of the original correspondence. 

 
5.2 Official letters on behalf of the Council should be sent out under the name of the 

appropriate officer rather than a member.  It may be appropriate in certain 
circumstances (e.g. representations to a Government Minister) for a letter to 
appear under the name of a member, but this should be the exception rather than 
the norm.  This would normally be in the name of the Leader or other Cabinet 
member. 

 
5.3 Members should not write letters which create obligations or give instructions on 

behalf of the Council. 
 
5.4 Members should not coerce officers to send particular correspondence or to write 

or refrain from writing a particular statement. 
 
5.5 The Council’s logo may be used on correspondence from members but only 

where the correspondence relates to Council business.  Guidance on letterheads 
and the use of the Council’s logo will be issued from time to time and members 
should comply with that guidance.  Members should also be familiar with the 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Publicity  which may be relevant. 

 
6 INVOLVEMENT OF WARD COUNCILLORS  
 
6.1 Whenever a public meeting is organised by the Council to consider a local issue, 

all the members representing the ward or wards affected should, as a matter of 
course, be invited to attend the meeting.  Similarly, whenever the Council 
undertakes any form of consultative exercise on a local issue, the ward members 
should be notified at the outset of the exercise. 

 
7 PRESS RELEASES AND PUBLICITY  
 
7.1 Press releases issued by the Council's Head of Communications may contain 

quotes from  the Leader,  Cabinet Members, or the appropriate Chair of 
committees.  Press releases will be confined to factual information and an 
explanation of agreed Council policy.  Where the press make a request for 
political comments this will be referred to the relevant party spokesperson(s). 

 
7.2 The Members of the Cabinet relevant chairs and vice-chairs and group 

spokesperson(s) will be sent copies of Council press releases when they are 
published.  Where Council press releases relate solely to a specific ward issue 
the ward members will also receive a copy of the press release when it is issued. 

Page 51



PROTOCOL FOR MEMBERS/OFFICER RELATIONS 

 
S/BSO/Terry/Brent Constitution/Member Officer Relation 
Part 7 Page     
31  
Last Updated 7.3.2014 

 
7.3 Any press release issued by the Council under the above arrangements will 

comply with the Local Government Act 1986 and the Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Publicity, and in particular: 

 
- must have the principal purpose of explaining or commenting upon Council 

policy 
- must be factually correct; and 
- must not include materials the main effect of which is party political (i.e. 

designed to affect public support for a political party). 
 
7.4 Special care in relation to press releases and publicity should be taken during the 

pre-election period.  Members and officers should pay particular attention to any 
guidance issued on this point by the Monitoring Officer, Chief Executive or other 
relevant officer(s). 

 
7.5 Members of the Council may respond to requests for press, radio and television 

interviews, but these will be given in a personal capacity and will be the personal 
responsibility of the member concerned.  Where a formal Council view is 
requested this will be referred by the Head of Communications to,  the Leader of 
the Cabinet, the appropriate Cabinet member, or the appropriate committee 
Chair. 

 
7.6 The recognised channel for press approaches to the Council is through the Head 

of Communications.  At his/her discretion, officers may deal with any request for 
information or questions asked by the press, television or radio, and may accept 
invitations to broadcast or appear on television in order to give the facts of a 
situation or explain the Council's practices.  It is important that the relevant senior 
officer(s) is involved in signing off any draft response prepared.The Leader of the 
Cabinet, Cabinet member, or relevant chair will be informed as soon as 
practicable. 

 
7.7 When press conferences or media events setting out agreed Council policy are 

arranged Leader and other members of the Cabinet , or the relevant chair and 
vice-chair of the committee, will be invited to attend. 

 
7.8 Members should not coerce officers into issuing publicity or organising events 

which would, or might, contravene the rules on political publicity. 
 
8. VISITS 
 
8.1  Any arrangements for visiting relevant Council establishments shall be available 

to relevant party spokesperson(s) on an equal basis. 
 
9. DIRECTIONS TO STAFF 
 
9.1 Members should not issue any instruction to officers to do or to refrain from doing 

anything. There are exceptions to this in relation to the Leader and members of 
the Cabinet where the issue relates to Council policy or business and are 
executive matters. This general rule shall not however, prevent committee chairs 
from requesting officers to make arrangements or provide documents in respect 
of meetings of which they are chair. 

 
9.2 Members should not make statements to staff whether verbally or in writing which 

could be construed as amounting to a suspension, dismissal or disciplinary action 
nor do anything which could amount to constructive dismissal. 

 

Page 52



PROTOCOL FOR MEMBERS/OFFICER RELATIONS 

 
S/BSO/Terry/Brent Constitution/Member Officer Relation 
Part 7 Page     
32  
Last Updated 7.3.2014 

10 STAFF APPROACHES TO MEMBERS 
 
10.1 It is important that appropriate boundaries of behaviour and proper 

communication channels are maintained at all times which reflect the respective 
roles of officers and members in the Council.  

 
10.2    The Brent Council officers’ Code of Conduct sets out standards of behaviour for 

officers, breach of which can lead to disciplinary action. Included in that Code are 
the following restrictions on officers’ interaction with Members  

 
• do not canvass members on employment related matters nor seek to influence 

members prior to any meetings of the Senior Staff Appointments Sub 
Committee or  Staff Appeals Sub Committee, other than in the context of giving 
proper professional advice 

 
• do not take up any work problems or issues with members. 
 
Any such approaches from officers or ex officers of the Council to a Member 
should be referred by the member to the HR Director. 

 
 
11. CODE OF CONDUCT AND CODES OF PRACTICE 
 
11.1 Members must adhere to the Brent Members Code of Conduct, the Planning 

Code of Practice and the Licensing Code of Practice at all times and the  general 
principles of conduct set out in the Localism Act 2011 namely: 

 
- Selflessness; 
-  Integrity; 
- Objectivity; 
- Accountability; 
- Openness; 
- Honesty 
- Leadership. 

-  

 

Page 53



Page 54

This page is intentionally left blank



Local Code of Corporate Governance 
 
 
 
Introduction 
 
Each local authority operates through a governance framework. The governance 
framework is an interrelated system that brings together an underlying set of 
legislative requirements, standards of behaviour, and management processes. 
 
Good governance means that the way a local authority operates is based on sound 
and transparent decision making with an effective process to support it. 
 
This Code sets out the Council’s governance framework. It is based on Guidance 
issued by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (‘CIPFA’) and 
the Society of Local Authority Chief Executives (‘SOLACE’) that was originally 
published in 2007 entitled Delivering Good Governance in Local Government and 
which has subsequently updated. 
 
 
There are six core principles and further supporting principles identified by 
CIPFA/SOLACE which underpin and inform the way in which a local authority should 
perform its services and other functions. These principles inform the Council’s 
governance framework, the Local Code of Corporate Governance and the standards 
by which the Council is audited. 
 
The principles and standards set out below in this Code reflect those set out by the 
current CIPFA/SOLACE Guidance   
 
 
 
 

1. Focusing on the purpose of  the Council and on outcomes for the 
community and creating and implementing a vision for the local area 

 
 
The Council will demonstrate strategic leadership, ensure that users receive a high 
quality of service whether directly, in partnership or by commissioning and ensure 
the best use of resources and secure excellent value for money for residents by 

 
 

• developing and promoting a clear vision of the Council’s purpose 
and intended outcomes for  the community and the local area and 
ensure that is clearly communicated, both within the Council and to 
external stakeholders  

•  regularly reviewing  the basis of its vision for the local area and its 
implications on its governance arrangements 

• ensuring that partnerships are underpinned by a common vision of 
their work that is understood and agreed by all parties  

Page 55



• publishing an annual report on a timely basis to communicate its 
activities and achievements its financial position and performance 

• deciding how the quality of service for users is to be measured and 
making sure that the information needed to review service 
effectively and regularly is available  

• putting in place effective arrangements to identify and deal with 
failures in service delivery 

•  deciding how value for money is measured and making sure that 
the authority or partnership has the information needed to review 
value for money and performance effectively 

• measuring the environmental and community safety impact of 
policies, plans and decisions  

 
 

2. Members and officers working together to achieve a common purpose 
with clearly defined functions and roles  

 
  The Council ensures effective leadership by being clear about respective 

executive and non executive functions, having constructive working relationships 
between members and officers, and making sure that partnership arrangements 
are clear. The Council will achieve this by 

 
•  Setting out a clear statement of the respective roles and responsibilities of 

the Cabinet and of the Cabinet ’s members individually and the approach 
towards putting this into practice 

• Setting out a clear statement of the respective roles and responsibilities of 
authority members, members generally and of senior officers 

• Having a scheme of delegation and reserve powers within the constitution 
including a formal schedule of those matters reserved specifically for 
collective decision of the authority taking account of relevant legislation 
and ensure that it is monitored and updated when required 

• Ensuring the Chief Executive responsible and accountable to the authority 
for all aspects of operational management 

• Ensuring a senior officer (the S151 officer) is responsible to the authority 
for ensuring that appropriate advice is given on all financial matters, for 
keeping financial records and accounts, and for maintaining an effective 
system of internal financial control 

• Ensuring a senior officer (the monitoring officer) is responsible to the 
authority for ensuring that agreed procedures are followed and that all 
applicable statutes and regulations are complied with. 

• Having protocols to ensure effective communication between members 
and officers in their respective roles 

• Setting out the terms and conditions for remuneration of members and 
officers and an effective structure for managing the process. 

•  Ensuring that the organisation’s vision, strategic plans, priorities and 
targets are developed through robust mechanisms, and in consultation 
with the local community and other key stakeholders, and that they are 
clearly articulated and disseminated   

Page 56



• Ensuring when working in partnership that members are clear about their 
roles and responsibilities both individually and collectively in relation to the 
partnership and to the authority 

• Ensuring when working in partnership that there is clarity about the legal 
status of the partnership and that representatives of organisations both 
understand and make clear to all other parties the extent of their authority 
to bind their organisation to partner decisions 

 
3. Promoting values of the authority and demonstrating the values of good 

governance through upholding high standards of conduct and 
behaviour 

 
The Council will ensure the members and officers maintain high standards of 
conduct and that organisational values are put into practice and are effective. 
The Council will 

 
• ensure that the authority’s leadership sets a tone for the organisation by 

creating a climate of openness, support and respect 
• ensure that standards of conduct and personal behaviour expected of 

members and staff, of work between members and staff and between the 
authority, its partners and the community are defined and communicated 
through codes of conduct and protocols 

• put in place arrangements to ensure that members and employees of the 
authority are not influenced by prejudice, bias or conflict of interest in 
dealing with different stakeholders and put in place appropriate processes 
to ensure that they continue to operate in practice 

• develop and maintain shared values, including leadership values both for 
the organisation and staff reflecting public expectations and communicate 
these with members, staff, the community and partners 

• put in place arrangements to ensure that procedures and operations are 
designed in conformity with appropriate ethical standards, and monitor 
their continuing effectiveness in practice. 

• develop and maintain an effective Standards Committee 
• use the organisation’s shared values to act as a guide for decision making 

and as a basis for developing positive and trusting relationships within the 
authority 

• in pursuing the vision of a partnership,  agree a set of values against 
which decision making and actions can be judged.  Such values must be 
demonstrated by partners’ behaviour both individually and collectively. 

 
 
4. Taking informed and transparent decisions which are subject to 

effective scrutiny and managing risk  
 

The council will be rigorous and transparent about how decisions are made and will 
reflect upon constructive scrutiny.it will ensure good quality information to make 
decisions, have in pace and effective risk management system and use its legal 
powers for the benefit of the community. The Council will 
 

Page 57



• develop and maintain an effective scrutiny function which encourages 
constructive challenge and enhances the organisation’s performance 
overall and of any organisation for which it is responsible. 

• develop and maintain open and effective mechanisms for documenting 
evidence for decisions and recording the criteria, rationale and 
considerations on which decisions are based 

• put in place arrangements to safeguard members and employees against 
conflicts of interest and put in place appropriate processes to ensure that 
they continue to operate in practice 

• develop and maintain an effective audit committee which is independent  
• put in place effective, transparent and accessible arrangements for 

dealing with complaints 
• ensure that those making decisions whether for the authority or 

partnership are provided with information that is fit for the purpose – 
relevant, timely and gives clear explanations of technical issues and their 
implications. 

• ensure that professional advice on matters that have legal or financial 
implications is available and recorded well in advance of decision making 
and used appropriately 

• ensure that risk management is embedded into the culture of the 
organisation, with members and managers at all levels recognising that 
risk management is part of their job 

• ensure that arrangements are in place for whistle blowing to which staff 
and all those contracting with the authority have access  

• actively recognise the limits of lawful activity placed on it, for example the 
ultra vires doctrine but also strive to utilise powers to the full benefit of our 
communities 

• recognise the limits of lawful action and observe both the specific 
requirements of legislation and the general responsibilities placed on local 
authorities by public law 

• observe all specific legislative requirements placed upon it, as well as the 
requirements of general law, and in particular integrate the key principles 
of good administrative – rationality, legality and natural justice into its 
procedures and decision making processes 

 
 

5. Developing the capacity and capability of members and officers to be 
effective 

 
The Council will make sure that members and officers have the skills, knowledge 
and resources needed to perform well, and that those skills are evaluated and 
developed. It will also engage and encourage new talent. The Council will 
 

• provide induction programmes tailored to individual needs and 
opportunities for members and officers to update their knowledge on a 
regular basis 

• ensure that the statutory officers have the skills, resources and support 
necessary to perform effectively in their roles and that these roles are 
properly understood throughout the organisation 

Page 58



• assess the skills required by members and officers and make a 
commitment to develop those skills to enable roles to be carried out 
effectively 

• develop skills on a continuing basis to improve performance including the 
ability to scrutinise and challenge and to recognise when outside expert 
advice is needed 

• ensure that effective arrangements are in place for reviewing the 
performance of the authority as a whole and agreeing an action plan 
which might for example aim to address any training or development 
needs 

• ensure that effective arrangements are in place designed to encourage 
individuals from all sections of the community to engage with, contribute 
to and participate in the work of the authority 

• ensure that career structures are in place for members and officers to 
encourage participation and development 

 
 

6. Engaging with local people and other stakeholders to ensure robust 
public accountability 

 
The Council will effectively engage local people and stakeholders, engage in 
dialogue with and accountability to the public and make best use of human 
resources by 
 

• making clear within the Council, to all staff and the community, to whom 
the Council is accountable and for what 

• considering those stakeholder bodies to whom the organisation is 
accountable and assessing the effectiveness of the relationships and any 
changes required 

• producing an annual report on scrutiny function activity  
•  Ensuring that clear channels of communication are in place with all 

sections of the community and other stakeholders including monitoring 
arrangements to ensure that they operate effectively 

• holding meetings in public unless there are good reasons for 
confidentiality 

• ensuring arrangements are in place to enable the authority to engage with 
all sections of the community effectively.  These arrangements recognise 
that different sections of the community have different priorities and 
establish explicit processes for dealing with these competing demands 

• Establishing  a clear policy on the types of issues it will meaningfully 
consult on or engage with the public and service users including a 
feedback mechanism for those consultees to demonstrate what has 
changed as a result 

• On an annual basis  publish a performance plan giving information on the 
authority’s vision, strategy, plans and financial statements as well as 
information about its outcomes, achievements and the satisfaction of 
service users in the previous period 

• ensuring that the authority as a whole is open and accessible to the 
community, service users and its staff and ensuring that it has made a 

Page 59



commitment to openness and transparency in all its dealings, including 
partnerships subject only to the need to preserve confidentiality in those 
specific circumstances where it is proper and appropriate to do so 

• developing and maintain a clear policy on how staff and their 
representatives are consulted and involved in decision making 

 
 
 
Annual Review and Reporting  
 
 
Each year the Council will carry out a review of the governance arrangements 
measured against the Code and the principles set out in the CIPFA/SOLACE 
guidance to ensure compliance with this Code, and the delivery of good governance 
within the local government framework and current good practice. The purpose of 
the review will be to provide assurance that governance arrangements are good and 
operating effectively and to identify any action required to improve effective 
governance in the future. 
 
 
The outcome of the review will take the form of an Annual Governance Statement 
prepared on behalf of the Leader at the Council and Chief Executive. It will be 
submitted to the Audit Committee for consideration and review with the annual 
accounts to meet the statutory requirement of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 
2006. This requires findings of the review of the system of internal control to be 
considered by a committee of the relevant body, or by members of the body meeting 
as a whole. 
 
The Governance Framework consists of a range of documents, policies and 
procedures developed, maintained and promoted by a number of different 
departments which are published and promoted to members, officers and others by 
publication on the Council’s website. 
 
This Code will be reviewed after the Annual audit and when any new 
CIPFA/SOLACE guidance is issued. 
 

Page 60



 

Page 61



Page 62

This page is intentionally left blank



 
Meeting 
Date  

Version no. 
Date  

 
 

 

 

Standards Committee 
9th December 2014  

Report from the Director of Legal 
and Procurement 

For Action 
  

Wards Affected: 
ALL 

  

Annual Report of the Monitoring Officer  

 
1.0 Summary 
 
1.1 This is the Monitoring Officer’s Annual Report to the Standards 

Committee for the period December 2013 to December 2014 and 
provides an update on member conduct issues, and the work of the 
Standards Committee and the Monitoring Officer during that period. 
This report also reviews the introduction of the new Code of Conduct 
and related codes in June 2014 following the local elections in May 
2014. 

 
2.0 Recommendations 
 
2.1 That the Committee note this report. 
 
3.0 Detail 

 
Members of the Standards Committee 

 
3.1 Following the change to the Standards regime under the Localism Act 

2011 the composition of the Standards Committee as an ordinary 
committee of the Council is now based on the political balance of the 
membership of Council. The Council also recognised the value of an 
independent member on the committee, even though under the change 
in legislation, that person is no longer able to vote. The composition of 
the Committee is therefore 3 Labour, 1 Conservative, 1 Liberal 
Democrat and Sheila Darr as the independent member of the 

Agenda Item 6

Page 63



 
Meeting 
Date  

Version no. 
Date  

 
 

committee. Sheila Darr’s appointment for a period of 2 years (subject to 
approval each year of Full Council)  was confirmed by the Council in 
June 2014.  

 
Appointment of the Independent Persons 

 
3.2 Under the legislation the Council is required to appoint at least one 

Independent Person whose views are or can be sought at various key 
stages in a complaint against a member. This role is different from the 
role of Sheila Darr as an independent member of the committee. The 
Council is in the process of recruiting new people to this post. 

 
The Committee’s work during December 2013- December 2014 
 
3.3 This Committee has three pre-arranged dates during the municipal 

year to discuss and decide on matters of policy and procedure, to 
conduct reviews of policies and processes and to deal with other 
general business. The Committee also meets on additional dates as 
and when required to determine any complaints against councillors.  

 
3.5 There have been two meetings in the review period December 2013 to 

December 2014; 9th January 2014 and 27th March 2014.  The January 
meeting included the Monitoring Officer annual review and the annual 
review of members’ training and expenses. Members also considered a  
complaint against Councillor Lorber. Members accepted the 
recommendation of the independent investigator that there had been 
no breach of the Members’ Code by Councillor Lorber. Members did 
however consider the issues that the case had raised and made 
various recommendations regarding the Code and members’ conduct 
which were reflected in the update to the Codes. At the March 2014 
meeting members reviewed the Members’ Code of Conduct, the 
Planning Code of Practice and the Licensing Code and agreed various 
updates and amendments. The new Codes were approved by 
members at Full Council in June 2014 and following the May 2014 local 
elections all members have been required to comply with the new 
requirements. The notable changes to the Codes are the need to 
disclose personal interests on the Register of Members Interests as 
well as financial interests, and the mandatory requirements regarding 
training – particularly in relation to membership of the planning and 
licensing committees.  

 
   
 
3.6 All members have completed their declaration of interests and training 

on the Codes was provided following the local elections in May 2014 
when a number of new members were elected.  

 
 

Page 64



 
Meeting 
Date  

Version no. 
Date  

 
 

Complaints against members 
 
3.7 Under the previous legislation all complainants made under the Code 

of Conduct had to be referred to the Standards Committee. One of the 
criticisms of the previous arrangement was the time spent and cost 
wasted on matters that need not be considered under the Code, or 
which could be resolved other than through a formal process. Under 
the new law the Council is permitted to set out its own processes for 
dealing with complaints and it has adopted a system whereby the 
Monitoring Officer is delegated some discretion as to how some 
matters be dealt with. There are clear parameters for this and these are 
set out in the procedure that was adopted by this Committee in January 
2013. 

3.8 For the period December 2013 to December 2014 the Monitoring 
Officer received 7 complaints under the Code. Of those 7, one was 
about an alleged incident over two  years ago, 2 on the alleged facts as 
presented did not amount to breaches of the Code and or the public 
interest did not warrant further investigation,  3 were resolved locally, 
and 1 remains outstanding. None of the complainants were sufficiently 
serious to warrant a referral to the committee. 

 
Monitoring Officer Advice Notes and Training 
 
3.9 During the period December 2013 to December 2014 the Monitoring 

Officer continued to issue Advice Notes to members as required. 
Together with the previously issued Advice Notes these form an 
ongoing resource for councillors. In the relevant period the Monitoring 
Officer issued the Annual Monitoring Officer Advice Note in June 2014 
setting out the requirements of the revised codes and advising 
members to comply with the declaration of interest requirements.  

 
3.10 The Monitoring Officer provided training to members on matters 

pertaining to members’ conduct immediately after the local elections. 
Training by the Monitoring Officer and other training provided to 
Members is set out in a separate report before this committee.  

 
Review of the Register of Member’s Interests 
 
3.11 A review of declaration of members’ interests was undertaken in the 

Autumn 2014 and where it appears they may be information missing 
from some declarations this is being followed up by direct 
correspondence.   

  
Gifts and Hospitality  
 
3.12 The Council’s Code requires that members register gifts and hospitality 

of over £50 as part of the enhanced transparency of members’ 

Page 65



 
Meeting 
Date  

Version no. 
Date  

 
 

conduct. One declaration was made in this period and that was by the 
Mayor in relation to a gift of a pair of spectacles from Specsavers on 
27th September 2014 estimated value £345. In relation to tickets 
provided to the Council by Wembley Stadium these are distributed by 
the Council to a variety of community and other groups and to the 
Group Offices. Members are not expected to declare these on the 
Register but the council keeps a record of tickets received and 
distributed.  

  
4.0 Financial Implications 
 
4.1 This report contains no specific financial implications. 
 
5.0 Legal Implications 
 
5.1 The legal requirements relating to members’ Code of Conduct and the 

Standards regime are set out in the Localism Act 2011.  
 
6.0 Diversity Implications 
 
6.1 This report contains no specific diversity implications. 
 
7.0 Staffing Implications 
 
7.1 This report contains no specific staffing implications. 
 
Background papers 
 
Members Register of Interests 
Brent Members’ Code of Conduct 
Localism Act 2011 
 
 
Should any person require any further information about the issues addressed 
in this report, please contact Kathy Robinson, Senior Corporate Solicitor, on 
telephone number 020 8937 1368. 
 
 
Fiona Ledden 
Director of Legal and Procurement  
 
 

Page 66


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 27 March 2014
	4 Review of the Member Development Programme and members' expenses
	Annual review members - app1
	Annual review members - app2
	Annual review members - app3
	Annual review members - app4

	5 Review of the Protocol for Member/Office Relations and the Local Code of Corporate Governance
	Member code - app1
	Member code - app2

	6 Annual report of the Monitoring Officer

